

Country reports

The World Health Organization (WHO) and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), Atlanta, developed the Global Health Professions Student Survey to track tobacco use among health professions students across countries using a common methodology and core questionnaire. Information from the Survey is compiled within the participating country by a Research Coordinator nominated by the Ministry of Health, and technically reviewed by WHO and CDC. The content has not otherwise been edited by WHO or CDC.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use.







Global Health Professional Students Survey Among Medical Students, Kuwait 2010

KUWAIT (GHPSS) 2010

Prepared by:

Dr. Sami El-Nasser

Chief public health office

Hawalli health region

Kuwait GYTS--coordinator

E-mail: phfk_sn@yahoo.com

Dr. Osama Abd-el Aziz Fakher

MD Public Health

Assistant -coordinator

E-mail: osfakher93@yahoo.com

Contents

| | | Pages |
|------------------------|--------------------|-------|
| | | |
| -Introduction | | 3 |
| -Tobacco use in Kuwait | | 3 |
| -Objectives of GHPSS | | 4 |
| -Methods: | | 5 |
| | -Target population | 5 |
| | -Study design | - 5 |
| | -Data collection | - 5 |
| | -Data analysis | - 6 |
| -Results: | | - 7 |
| -Discussion: | | 13 |
| -Conclusion: | | 14 |
| -References: | | - 15 |

Introduction

Tobacco use causes preventable morbidity and mortality.¹⁻⁴ A number of studies have found that health professionals can substantially increase smoking cessation rates among their patients by brief or simple councelling⁵⁻⁷. Intervention by a health professional to encourage smoking cessation is cost-effective compared to other cessation therapies: the cost of nicotine replacement therapy alone has been estimated to cost about twice as much as physician counseling per year of life saved⁸⁻⁹.

Despite the body of knowledge on health professionals' role in tobacco cessation, few recent studies has collected information on tobacco use and training to provide cessation counseling among health professional students. A review published in 2007 found 66 articles published between 1976 and 2006 that focused on smoking behavior among medical students.¹⁰

Tobacco use in Kuwait:

Tobacco cultivation is prohibited in Kuwait. The national committee for tobacco control in Kuwait has been instructed with some achievement:

- Banning smoking in closed public places.
- Banning smoking in public transport.
- No sponsorship for any kind of sport or contents by tobacco companies.
- Prohibition of sales to minors below (18 years).
- Periodic increase of custom and additional fees on imported tobacco.

A study done in Kuwait ¹¹revealed that 70% of all male smokers had started smoking before they reached age 20 years.

Another study among medical students at Kuwait University showed that 33% of those who had ever used tobacco began at high school, and 50% began at medical school (12).

From the result of (2005 and 2009 GYTS data) in Kuwait, it is evident that the prevalence of ever smoked cigarette between 2005 and 2009 (27.6% and 28.8% respectively) is significantly elevated higher in both boys and girls. Further, the prevalence of girls who use other tobacco use (shisha) 8.9% is still significantly higher than girls who smoke cigarette (5.8%). This may be an indication that other tobacco use will soon be increasing among young girls and illustrating the need to encompass all types of tobacco use when

developing intervention strategies considering the misconception that waterpipe are harmless.(13)

Background of the Global Health Professionals Students Survey (GHPSS)

The World Health Organization, CDC, and the Canadian Public Health Association, developed the GHPSS to collect data on tobacco use and cessation counseling among health professional students in all WHO member states.

GHPSS is a standardized school-based survey of third-year students pursuing advanced degrees in dentistry, medicine, nursing, or pharmacy. It is conducted in schools during regular class sessions. GHPSS follows an anonymous, self-administered format for data collection. GHPSS uses a core questionnaire on demographics, prevalence of cigarette smoking and other tobacco use, knowledge and attitudes about tobacco use, exposure to secondhand smoke, desire for smoking cessation, and training received regarding patient counseling on smoking cessation techniques. Questionnaires are translated into local languages as needed. GHPSS has a standardized methodology for selecting participating schools and classes and uniform data processing procedures.

Objectives of GHPSS

The objectives of the GHPSS are to:

- (1) Collect baseline information on tobacco use.
- (2) Evaluate the existence, implementation and enforcement of Tobacco control policies in health professional schools.
- (3) (understand the knowledge and attitudes of health profession students towards tobacco control policies.
- (4) (Assess training and material requirements for implementing tobacco prevention and control interventions.

Methodology

The Global Health Professionals Students Survey (GHPSS) is part of the Global Tobacco Surveillance System (GTSS), which collect data through three surveys.

GHPSS is a school based survey of third year student in the Faculty of medicine Kuwait University. GHPSS of the medical students consist of 47 core questions on demographics, prevalence of cigarettes smoking, and other tobacco use, knowledge and attitude about tobacco use, exposure to secondhand smoke, desire for smoking cessation and training received regarding patient counseling on smoking cessation technique. The methodology of GHPSS is uniform around the world, so the result could be compare each other accurately.

In Kuwait there is only one medical school and that is a part of Kuwait University. All third year students in medical school were targeted to participate in the survey. Data collection was conducted in each school during regular class session. The medical school system in Kuwait consists of seven years: two preparatory, two academic, and three clinical years. From the third to the seventh year, students physically attend the Faculty of Medicine on a permanent basis

Data Collection

Data collection was coordinated by Ministry of Health (MOH) and Kuwait Faculty of Medicine. Before data collection, visits to Faculty of Medicine were undertaken in order to:

- Obtain permission from Dean of the faculty of Medicine to conduct the survey
- Make logistical arrangements for survey administration

Dean of the faculty of Medicine was briefed on the objectives of the survey, administration and the procedures that were to be employed to ensure anonymity & confidentiality for students.

Survey procedures were designed to protect the students' privacy by allowing for anonymous and voluntary participation. The self-administered questionnaire was administered in the classroom. Students recorded their responses directly on an answer sheet that could be scanned by a computer. The questionnaire contained 47 multiple-choice questions.

GHPSS follows a self administered format for data collection. The questionnaire covers prevalence of cigarette smoking and use of other tobacco products, exposure to second hand smoke (SHS), desire to quit smoking and training received to provide patient counseling on cessation technique.

The GHPSS was conducted in faculty of medicine during regular lectures and class sessions. Students recorded answers to the GHPSS questionnaires on a scan able answer sheet. Completed answer Sheets, were sent to the centers for Disease Control and Preventive (CDC) for processing.

Data analysis

All GHPSS data of Kuwait were processed by CDC, which is the coordinating center for the Global Tobacco Surveillance System (GTSS). SUDAAN, software developed for analysis of survey data, and to calculate prevalence estimate and 95% confidence interval. Statistical difference are noted at the P < 0.05 level

Results

A total of 101 medical students in the third year participated in Kuwait Medical students GHPSS 2010. The school response rate was 100% and the student's response rate was 100%.

Prevalence of Tobacco

(Table 1): Percent of students who use tobacco

| | Total | Female | Male |
|-------------------------------------|-------|--------|-------|
| | | | |
| -Ever smoked cigarettes | 21.9% | 14.9% | 40.7% |
| -Current cigarettes smokers | 5.3% | 0 | 19.2% |
| -Ever used other tobacco product | 35.8% | 28% | 57.7% |
| -Current use other tobacco products | 11.5% | 7.5% | 22.2% |
| -Ever use any tobacco products | 41.7% | 34.3% | 63% |
| -Current use any tobacco products | 11.5% | 7.5% | 22.2% |
| , , | | | |
| | | | |

(Table 1) shows that, one in every five students had ever smoked cigarettes (21.9%). Male are significantly more likely than female for both ever and current smokers of tobacco use. Only 5.3% of the students were current cigarettes smokers and more than one in ten currently use other tobacco products (11.5%). Males are significantly more likely than females (19.2% &22.2% compared to 0 & 7.5% respectively). Current use any tobacco products were 11.5%). Male are significantly more likely than female for use of any tobacco products.

Environmental exposure

(**Table: 2**)Percent of students who exposed smoke at home, public places and supported banning smoking in public places

| Factors influencing tobacco use | Total | Female | Male |
|---|-------|--------|-------|
| -Had someone smoke cigarettes, shisa or other tobacco products in their presence and their home during the past year. | 29.2% | 23.9% | 40.7% |
| - Who in the past 7 days had someone smoke cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco products in their presence other than in their home. | 43.8% | 34.3% | 63% |
| -Who have an official policy banning smoking cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco products in school building and clinics. | 68.8% | 72.3% | 65.4% |
| -Who have an official policy banning smoking cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco products in school building and clinics and the policy is enforced | 88% | 92.9% | 62.5% |

(Table 2) reveals that, almost three in ten students (29.2%) had some cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco products in presence and in their homes (exposed to second—hand smoke at home). Also more than four in ten students (43.8%) had been exposed to second—hand smoke in public places. Males are significantly more likely than females regarding to exposure to second—hand smoke at homes and in public places. The table shows that, 68.8% of the students have an official policy banning smoking cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco products in school buildings and clinics. Also 88% of the students reported that this policy was enforced.

Table(3) Attitude of medical students

| | Total | Female | Male |
|---|-------|--------|-------|
| -Who think tobacco sales to adolescent should be banned. | 94.7% | 95.5% | 96.2% |
| -Percent who think there should be complete ban of advertising of tobacco products (cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco). | 93.8% | 94% | 96.3% |
| -Who think smoking cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco products should be banned in | 93.8% | 95.5% | 88.9% |
| restaurant. -Who think smoking cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco products should be banned in all enclosed public places. | 94.8% | 94% | 96.3% |

(Table 3) shows that over nine in every ten 94.7% of medical students thought that tobacco sale to adolescent should be banned, and also 93.8% of Kuwait medical students thought that should be a complete ban of advertising tobacco products.

They thought smoking, shisha or other tobacco products should be banned in all restaurants. 94.8% of medical students thought that smoking cigarettes, shisha as other tobacco products should be banned in all enclosed public places.

Cessation among medical students:

(Table: 4) Percent of current smokers who want to quit, tried to quit, and who received help to quit

| | Total | Female | Male |
|---|----------------|---------------|----------------|
| -percent of current cigarettes smokers who want to quit now. Percent of current cigarettes smokers who - have tried to stop smoking cigarettes. | 66.7% 50% | 0 | 66.7% 50% |
| -Percent who think health professional should get specific training on cessation technique. -Percent who think health professional service as role models for their patients and public. | 97.9% 78.1% | 100% 79.1% | 92.6% 74.1% |
| -Percent who think health professional should routinely advise their patients who use tobacco to quit using it. | 95.8% | 95.5% | 96.3% |
| -Percent who think health professional have a role in giving advice or information about tobacco cessation to patient. | 95.8% | 95.5% | 96.3% |
| -Percent who think a patient chance of quitting tobacco use is increased if a health professional advises him /her to quit. | 86.5% | 85.1% | 92.6% |

(Table 4) shows that almost seven of ten students want to quit smoking and 50% of student try to quit smoking. 97.9% of Kuwait medical students though health professional should get specific training on cessation technique. 78.1% of medical students though health professional service as: role models for their patient and public. 95.8% of medical students reported that, health professional should routinely advise their parents who use tobacco to quit using it. And they have a role in giving advice or information about tobacco

cessation to patient. 95.8% of medical students though health professional have a role in giving advice or information about tobacco cessation to patient

Curriculum of medical students

(Table 5): School Curriculum of the studied sample

| | Total | Female | Male |
|--|-------|--------|-------|
| - Percent who discussed in class the reasons | 79.2% | 79.1% | 81.5% |
| why people use tobacco in their (medical,) | | | |
| school training. | | | |
| - Who learned it is important to record tobacco | 83.3% | 79.1% | 96.3% |
| use history as part of patient's general medical | | | |
| history in their school training. | | | |
| - Who have ever received any formal training | 42.7% | 44.8% | 40.7% |
| in tobacco use cessation approaches to use with | | | |
| patient in their school training. | | | |
| - Percent who learned it is important to | 61.5% | 61.2% | 66.7% |
| provide educational materials to support | | | |
| tobacco use cessation to patients who want to | | | |
| quit smoking in their school training. | | | |
| - Who have heard of nicotine replacement | 96.9% | 95.5% | 100% |
| products for use in tobacco cessation programs. | | | |
| - Who have heard of using antidepressant in | 42.1% | 40.9% | 44.4% |
| tobacco cessation programs | | | |
| | | | |

(Table 5) reveals that, about eight in every ten (79.2%) medical students were discussed in class the reasons why people use tobacco in their (medical,) school training. While only 42.7% had received any formal training in tobacco use cessation approaches to use with patient in their school training. Also only six in ten (61.5%) who learned it is important to provide educational materials to support tobacco use cessation to patients who want to quit smoking in their school training. The majority of the students (96.9%) have heard of nicotine replacement products for use in tobacco cessation programs

Smoking Initiation of medical students

Table 6

| | Total | Female | Male |
|--|-------|--------|-------|
| - Ever shisha users who first started to use | 33.3% | 25% | 38.5% |
| shisha before the age of 10. - Ever smokers who first started to smoke | 31.6% | 37.5% | 27.3% |
| cigarette daily before the age of 10. | | | |
| - Ever smokers who first started to smoke cigarette daily before the age of 16. | 63.2% | 62.5% | 63.6% |
| -Ever smokers who smoked cigarette on school premises/property in the past year. | 31.3% | 0 | 45.5% |
| -Ever smokers who smoked cigarette in school building in the past year. | 20% | 0 | 27.3% |

(Table 6) shows that, more than three in ten (33.3%) of the ever smokers students started to use shisha before the age of 10. And (31.6%) started to smoke cigarette daily before the age of 10. While 63.3% were started cigarettes smoking daily before the age 16. However 31.3% of ever smokers have been smoked on school premises/ property during the past year and 20% of ever smokers have been smoked in the school buildings during the past year. 20% of the students had smoked cigarettes in school building in the past year.

Discussion

The tobacco control program should target cigarette smoking and use of other forms of tobacco among professional students because this behavior endangers their health and will reduce their ability to deliver effective antitobacco counseling when they start seeing patients.¹⁵⁻¹⁷

The **prevalence** of current smoking cigarettes students in Kuwait medical school (5.3%) is lower than 13-15 years of age students in Kuwait, as in found in GYTS 2009 in Kuwait, which gave the result of current cigarette smokers of (12.2%). This result also lower than prevalence of many countries, as in study in Saudi Arabia among medical students, reported that, prevalence of current smokers was 17.6%(28.9% of male ,4.3% of female)¹⁸

But if we see more in depth, it was showed that male students are smokers, which is quite one of five (table 1). An Alarming situation, since medical students are coming medical physicians, who suppose to be a kind of healthy life symbol status of Kuwait community.

Exposures to **second hand smoke** represent a high risk factor for smoking among medical students of Kuwait as the GHPSS in Kuwait showed that quite a number of medical students are a victim of **second hand smoke**, where, 29.2% of the students were exposed to smoke at home and 43.8% were exposed to smoke in public places (table 2). These finding consistent with Kuwait GYTs 2006. Which find that 49.8% of student's age (13-15) years of age were exposed to second hand smoke at home. This exposure directly impacts their health and can be reduced by expanding smoke free area and enforcing restrictions currently in place

Regarding to attitude of the students to **Smoking in public places**, our finding showed that almost all students (94.8) were supportive to tobacco control efforts (table 3), they reported that smoking should be banned in all enclosed public places. This finding brought an issue that No smoking in public places should implemented in Kuwait with strict law enforcement.

Regarding (**Cessation**), two third of current smoking male medical student were wanted to quit smoking and 50% of current smoking male medical student were tried to stop smoking. Health professional should be trained to provide effective, accurate and cessation advice to patients on all aspects of health.²⁰

GHPSS data show that medical students in Kuwait recognize that, they are role models in society that they should receive training on counseling and treating patient.

In fact only 42.7% received **formal training** in smoking cessation approach during medical school. This percentage is higher than many countries, in Egypt 20.9%, in Lebanon 29.1%, in Saudi Arabia 6.7%, in Syria 29.3%, in India 22.3% in 2006 ^{21.} And this good finding is important because health professional should be able to provide patients with information about health consequences of smoking

A positive finding in Kuwait GHPSS data was the high percentage of medical students (97.9%) who think health professional should get specific **training on cessation technique**.

On the other hand, the need of smoking **cessation consultation** program /clinic is an integral part of tobacco control in Kuwait. This information brings us to conclusion that medical faculty of Kuwait university should develop a teaching module of smoking cessation consultation technique to be taught to their medical students in the near future as a part of their normal curricula. This is in line with WHO which encouraged health professionals to help their smoking patients to quit.²¹

Conclusion

Health professional schools, should discourage tobacco use among health professional and work to design and implement program that train all health professional in effective cassation counseling techniques. and they should introduce tobacco complication and method of smoking cessation in curriculums of medical schools.

GHPSS results in Kuwait is helpful in evaluating the behavior and attitudes regarding tobacco among health professional students, and we can used these results to identify new program efforts that are needed to lead towards a more effective comprehensive tobacco control program.

If the goal of the tobacco control preprogram is to reduce substantially the use of tobacco products; then resources should be invested in improving the quality of education of health professionals.

References

- 1- Ezzati M, Lopez AD, Rodgers A, et al, and the Comparative Risk Assessment Collaborating Group. Selected major risk factors and global and regional burden of disease. Lancet 2002;360:1347-60
- 2- Peto R, Lopez AD, Boreham J, et al. Mortality from smoking in developed countries 1950-2000: indirect estimation from National Vital Statistics. Oxford: Oxford University press, 1994.
- 3- WHO IARC. Monographs on the elevation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Vol.83: Tobacco smoke and involuntary smoking. Lyon: IARC Press, 2004.
- 4- WHO IARC. Monographs on the elevation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Vol.85: Betel-quid and areca-nut chewing and some areca-nut-derived nitrosamines, Lyon: IARC Press, 2004.
- 5- US Department of Health and Human Services. Reducing tobacco use: a report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, CDC; 2000.
- 6- Fiore MC, Bailey WC, Cohen SJ, et al. Treating tobacco use and dependence. Clinical practice guideline. Rockville, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services, 2000.
- 7- Lancaster T, Stread L, Silagy C, et al. Effectiveness of interventions to help people stop smoking: finding from the Cochrane Library. BMJ 2000; 321:355-8.
- 8- Law M, Tang JL. An analysis of the effectiveness of interventions to help people stop smoking. Arch Intern Med 1995; 155: 1933-41.
- 9- Department of Health and Human Services. The economic implications of smoking cessation: Direct medical costs only. US Department of Health and Human Services, Agency for Health Care Policy and Research, 1196; AHCPR publication no 96-R078.
- 10-Smith DR, Leggat PA. An international review of tobacco smoking among medical students. J Postgrad Med 2007; 53:55-62.
- 11-Moody PM, Memon A, Sugathan TN, el-Gergas N, Al Bustan M. Factors associated with the initiation of smoking by Kuwaiti males J subst abuse 1998; 10: 375-84.
- 12- Memon A, Moody PM, Sugathan TN, el-Gergas N, al Bustan M, al Shatti A, al-Jazzaf H. Epidemiology of smoking among Kuwaitis

- adults: Prevalence, characteristics and attitude. Bull World Health Organization 2000; 78: 1306-15.
- 13- El Naser S, Fakher O. Report of the Results of the Global Youth Tobacco Survey in Kuwait (GYTS Kuwait 2009) World Health Organization (GYTS) 2009.
- 14- Shah BV, Barnwell BG, Bieler GS. Software for the Statistical Analysis of Correlated Data (SUDAAN): user's manual. Release 7.5.1997 (software documentation). Research Triangle Park, NC: Research Triangle Institute, 1997.
- 15- Vakeflliu Y, Argjiri D, Poposhi I, et al. Tobacco smoking habits, beliefs , and attitudes among medical students in Tirana, Albania.Prev. Med 2002; 34: 370-3
- 16-The GTSS Collaboratine Group. Tobacco use and cessation counseling: Global Health Professionals Survey Pilot Study, 10 countries, 2005. Tob control 2006; 15(suppl. 2): ii31-34
- 17- Jenkins K, Ahijevych K. Nursing students' beliefs about smoking, their own smoking behaviors, and use of professional tobacco treatment intervention. Appl. Nurs. Res. 2003;16;164-72.
- 18-Abdulaziz F.Alkaabba, Abdalla A. Saeed, et al. Prevalence and associated factors of cigarette smoking among medical students at King Fahd Medical City in Riyadh of Saudi Arabia. Fam and comm med jour 2011;18:8-12
- 19- El Naser S, Fakher O. Report of the Results of the Global Youth Tobacco Survey in Kuwait(GYTS Kuwait 2006) World Health Organization (GYTS) 2006
- 20- World Health Organization. WHO Framework convention on Tobacco Control Geneva: WHO, 2003.
- 21- CW Warren, NR Jones, J Chaurin. Tobacco use and cessation counseling cross country tobacco control 2008, 17:238-247
- 22-Tobacco use and cessation counseling global health professional survey pilot study, 10 counters, 2005 MMWR May 21, vol. 54 no.20.



Global Health Professional Students Survey Among Nursing Students, Kuwait 2010

KUWAIT (GHPSS) 2010

Prepared by:

Dr. Sami El-Nasser

Chief public health office

Howelli health region

Kuwait GYTS--coordinator

E-mail: phfk_sn@yahoo.com

Dr. Osama Abd-el Aziz Fakher

MD Public Health

Assistant -coordinator

E-mail: osfakher93@yahoo.com

Contents

| | | Pages |
|------------------------|--------------------|-------|
| | | |
| -Introduction | | 3 |
| -Tobacco use in Kuwait | | 3 |
| -Objectives of GHPSS | | 4 |
| -Methods: | | 5 |
| | -Target population | 5 |
| | -Study design | . 5 |
| | -Data collection | - 5 |
| | -Data analysis | 6 |
| -Results: | | - 7 |
| -Discussion: | | 13 |
| -Conclusion: | | 14 |
| -References: | | - 15 |

Introduction

Tobacco use causes preventable morbidity and mortality¹⁻⁴. A number of studies have found that health professionals can substantially increase smoking cessation rates among their patients by brief or simple councelling⁵⁻⁷. Intervention by a health professional to encourage smoking cessation is cost-effective compared to other cessation therapies: the cost of nicotine replacement therapy alone has been estimated to cost about twice as much as physician counseling per year of life saved.⁸⁻⁹

Despite the body of knowledge on health professional's role in tobacco cessation, few recent studies has collected information on tobacco use and training to provide cessation counseling among health professional students. A review published in 2007 found 66 articles published between 1976 and 2006 that focused on smoking behavior among medical students.¹⁰

Tobacco use in Kuwait:

Tobacco cultivation is prohibited in Kuwait. The national committee for tobacco control in Kuwait has been instructed with some achievement:

- Banning smoking in closed public places.
- Banning smoking in public transport.
- No sponsorship for any kind of sport or contents by tobacco companies.
- Prohibition of sales to minors below (18 years).
- Periodic increase of custom and additional fees on imported tobacco.

A study done in Kuwait ¹¹revealed that 70% of all male smokers had started smoking before they reached age 20 years.

Another study among medical students at Kuwait University showed that 33% of those who had ever used tobacco began at high school, and 50% began at medical school (12)

From the result of (2005 and 2009 GYTS data) in Kuwait, it is evident that the prevalence of ever smoked cigarette between 2005 and

2009 (27.6% and 28.8% respectively) is significantly elevated higher in both boys and girls. Further, the prevalence of girls who use other tobacco use (shisha) 8.9% is still significantly higher than girls who smoke cigarette (5.8%). This may be an indication that other tobacco use will soon be increasing among young girls and illustrating the need to encompass all types of tobacco use when developing intervention strategies considering the misconception that water-pipe are harmless.(13)

Background of the Global Health Professionals Students Survey (GHPSS)

The World Health Organization, CDC, and the Canadian Public Health Association, developed the GHPSS to collect data on tobacco use and cessation counseling among health professional students in all WHO member states.

GHPSS is a standardized school-based survey of third-year students pursuing advanced degrees in dentistry, medicine, nursing, or pharmacy. It is conducted in schools during regular class sessions. GHPSS follows an anonymous, self-administered format for data collection. GHPSS uses a core questionnaire on demographics, prevalence of cigarette smoking and other tobacco use, knowledge and attitudes about tobacco use, exposure to secondhand smoke, desire for smoking cessation, and training received regarding patient counseling on smoking cessation techniques. Questionnaires are translated into local languages as needed. GHPSS has a standardized methodology for selecting participating schools and classes and uniform data processing procedures.

Objectives of GHPSS

The objectives of the GHPSS are to:

- (1) Collect baseline information on tobacco use.
- (2) Evaluate the existence, implementation and enforcement of Tobacco control policies in health professional schools.
- (3) (understand the knowledge and attitudes of health profession students towards tobacco control policies.
- (4) (Assess training and material requirements for implementing tobacco prevention and control interventions.

Methodology

The Global Health Professionals Students Survey (GHPSS) is part of the Global Tobacco Surveillance System (GTSS), which collect data through three surveys.

GHPSS is a school based survey of third year student in the Faculty of nursing Public Authority for Appalled Education and Training. GHPSS of the nursing students consist of 47 core questions on demographics, prevalence of cigarettes smoking, and other tobacco use, knowledge and attitude about tobacco use, exposure to secondhand smoke, desire for smoking cessation and training received regarding patient counseling on smoking cessation technique. The methodology of GHPSS is uniform around the world, so the result could be compare each other accurately.

In Kuwait there is only one nursing school and that is a part of Public Authority for Appalled Education and Training. All third year students in nursing school were targeted to participate in the survey. Data collection was conducted in nursing school during regular class session. The nursing school system in Kuwait consists of four years:

Data Collection

Ministry of Health (MOH) through GHPSS coordinator, and Kuwait Faculty of nursing coordinated data collection. Before data collection, visits to Faculty of nursing were undertaken in order to:

- Obtain permission from Dean of the faculty of nursing to conduct the survey
- Make logistical arrangements for survey administration

Dean of the faculty of nursing was briefed on the objectives of the survey, administration and the procedures that were to be employed to ensure anonymity & confidentiality for students.

Survey procedures were designed to protect the students' privacy by allowing for anonymous and voluntary participation. The self-administered questionnaire was administered in the classroom. Students recorded their responses directly on an answer sheet that could be scanned by a computer. The questionnaire contained 47 multiple-choice questions.

GHPSS follows a self-administered format for data collection. The questionnaire covers prevalence of cigarette smoking and use of other tobacco products, exposure to second hand smoke (SHS), desire to quit smoking and training received to provide patient counseling on cessation technique.

The GHPSS was conducted in faculty of nursing during regular lectures and class sessions. Students recorded answers to the GHPSS questionnaires on a scan able answer sheet. Completed answer Sheets, were sent to the centers for Disease Control and Preventive (CDC) for processing.

Data analysis

All GHPSS data of Kuwait were processed by CDC, which is the coordinating center for the Global Tobacco Surveillance System (GTSS). SUDAAN, software developed for analysis of survey data, and to calculate prevalence estimate and 95% confidence interval. 14 Statistical difference are noted at the P < 0.05 level

Results

A total of 124 nursing students in the third year participated in Kuwait nursing students GHPSS 2010. The school response rate was 100% and the student's response rate was 100%.

Prevalence of Tobacco

(**Table 1**): Percent of students who use tobacco

| | Total | Female | Male |
|---|-------|--------|-------|
| -Ever smoked cigarettes -Current cigarettes smokers -WHO smoked shisha on one or two days of the past 30 days | 43.0% | 38.6% | 71.4 |
| | 9.1% | 5.9% | 28.6% |
| | 7.3% | 6.7% | 14.3% |
| -Ever smoked shisha -Ever used other tobacco product -Current use other tobacco products | 31.7% | 28.2% | 50% |
| | 34.7% | 31.7% | 50% |
| | 11.3% | 8.7% | 28.6% |
| -Ever use any tobacco products -Current use any tobacco products | 50.8% | 48.1% | 71.4% |
| | 15.3% | 11.5% | 35.7% |

(Table 1) shows that, four in every ten students had ever smoked cigarettes (43%). Male are significantly more likely than female for both ever and current smokers of tobacco use. Only 9.1% of the students were current cigarettes smokers, and three in ten nursing students were ever smoked shisha and other tobacco products (31.7% and 34.7% respectively). More than one in ten currently uses other tobacco products (11.3%). Males were significantly more likely than females (19.2% &22.2% compared to 0 & 7.5% respectively). Current use any tobacco products were (15.3%). Male were significantly more likely than female for use of any tobacco products.

ENVIROMENTAL EXPOSURE

(**Table: 2**)Percent of students who exposed smoke at home, public places and supported banning smoking in public places

| | Total | Female | Male |
|--|-------|--------|-------|
| -Had someone smoke cigarettes, shisa or other tobacco products in their presence and their home. | 49.6% | 45.5% | 78.6% |
| - Who in the past 7 days had someone smoke cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco products in their presence other than in their home. | 51.3% | 46.5% | 78.6% |
| -Who have an official policy banning smoking cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco products in school building and clinics? | 43.1% | 46.4% | 23.1% |
| -Who have an official policy banning smoking cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco products in school building and clinics and the policy is enforced | 85% | 86.1% | 50% |

(Table 2) reveals that, almost five in ten students (49.6%) had some cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco products in presence and in their homes (exposed to second–hand smoke at home). Also more than five in ten students (51.3%) had been exposed to second–hand smoke in public places. Males are significantly more likely than females regarding to exposure to second-hand smoke at homes and in public places. The table shows that, **only** four in ten (43.1%)% of the students have an official policy banning smoking cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco products in school buildings and clinics. While (85%) of the students reported that this policy was enforced.

Table(3) Attitude of Nursing students

| | Total | Female | Male |
|--|-------|--------|-------|
| - Who think tobacco sales to adolescent should be banned. | 86.4% | 85.7% | 85.7% |
| -Percent who think there should be complete ban of advertising of tobacco products (cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco). | 89.9% | 91.9% | 71.4% |
| - Who think smoking cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco products should be banned in restaurant. | 91.1% | 89.4% | 100% |
| -who think smoking cigarettes, shisha or other tobacco products should be banned in all enclosed public places. | 96.7% | 98% | 85.7% |

(Table 3) shows that over nine in every ten (86.4%) of nursing students thought that tobacco sale to adolescent should be banned, and also 89.9% of nursing students thought that should be a complete ban of advertising tobacco products.

They thought,(91.1%) smoking, shisha or other tobacco products should be banned in all restaurants. 96.7% of medical students thought that smoking cigarettes, shisha as other tobacco products should be banned in all enclosed public places.

Table(4 Cessation among nursing students:)

| | Total | Female | Male |
|---|-------|--------|-------|
| - Percent of current cigarettes smokers who want to quit now. | 50.0% | 33.3% | 100 |
| - Percent of current cigarettes smokers, who have tried to stop smoking cigarettes. | 28.6% | 33.3% | 33.3% |
| -Percent who think health professional should get specific training on cessation technique. | 94.3% | 95% | 92.9% |
| - Percent who think health professional service as role models for their patients and public. | 87.0 | 87.5 | 76.9 |
| -Percent who think health professional should routinely advise their patients who use tobacco to quit using it. | 90.2 | 90.3 | 85. 7 |
| -Percent who think health professional have a role in giving advice or information about tobacco cessation to patient. | 88.7 | 90.4 | 78.6 |
| -Percent who think a patient chance of quitting tobacco use is increased if a health professional advises him /her to quit. | 82.8 | 79.6 | 100 |
| | | | |

(Table 4) shows that half of the students want to quit smoking but only 28.6% who had tried to stop smoking. On the other hand (94.3%) of Kuwait nursing students though, health professional should get specific training on cessation technique. 87% of medical students though health professional service as role models for their patient and public. The majority (90.2%) and 88.7% of nursing students reported that, health professional should routinely advise their parents who use tobacco to quit using it and they have a role in giving advice or information about tobacco cessation to patient . (82.8%) of nursing students though health professional have a role in giving advice or information about tobacco cessation to patient.

Curriculum of Nursing students

Table(5)

| | Total | Female | Male |
|---|--------|--------|--------|
| | 75.4% | 79.2% | 53.8% |
| - Percent who discussed in class the reasons why | | | |
| people use tobacco in their (medical,) school training. | | | |
| - Who learned it is important to record tobacco use | 69.7% | 69.9% | 71.4% |
| history as part of patient's general medical history in | | | |
| their school training. | | | |
| - Who have ever received any formal training in | 48% | 46.2% | 53.8% |
| tobacco use cessation approaches to use with patient | | | |
| in their school training. | | | |
| - Percent who learned it is important to provide | FO 99/ | 52% | 46.2% |
| educational materials to support tobacco use | 50.8% | 32/0 | 40.270 |
| cessation to patients who want to quit smoking in | | | |
| their school training. | | | |
| - Who have heard of nicotine replacement products | 79.7% | 83.7% | 50% |
| for use in tobacco cessation programs. | | | |
| | | | |

(Table **5**) reveals that, about eight in every ten (75.4%) nursing students were discussed in class the reasons why people use tobacco in their (medical,) school training. While only (48%) had received any formal training in tobacco use cessation approaches to use with patient in their school training. Also only five in ten (50.8%) who learned it is important to provide educational materials to support tobacco use cessation to patients who want to quit smoking in their school training. Almost eight in ten of the students (79.7%) have heard of nicotine replacement products for use in tobacco cessation programs

Smoking Initiation of nursing students

Table (6)

| | Total | Female | Male |
|---|-------|--------|-------|
| - Ever shisha users who first started to | 5.1% | 3.4% | 14.3% |
| use shisha before the age of 10. | | | |
| - Ever smokers who first started to smoke cigarette daily before the age of | 15.2% | 14.7% | 20% |
| 10Ever smokers who first started to smoke cigarette daily before the age of | 34.8% | 26.5 | 70% |
| 16Ever smokers who smoked cigarette on school premises/property in the past | 8.3% | 0 | 50% |
| -Ever smokers who smoked cigarette in school building in the past year. | 12.5% | 0 | 60% |

(Table 6) shows that, (15.2%) started to smoke cigarette daily before the age of 10. While one third of nursing students (34.8%) were started cigarettes smoking daily before the age 16 and male were significantly higher than female. However (8.3%) of ever smokers have been smoked on school premises/ property during the past year and 12.5 % of ever smokers have been smoked in the school buildings during the past year all of them were male.

Discussion

The tobacco control program should target cigarette smoking and use of other forms of tobacco among professional students because this behavior endangers their health and will reduce their ability to deliver effective anti-tobacco counseling when they start seeing patients.¹⁵⁻¹⁷

The GHPSS data provides data on several indicators (surveillance and monitoring, prevalence, exposure to second hand smoke, health professional school based tobacco control.

The **prevalence** of current smoking cigarettes students in Kuwait nursing school (9.1%) is lower than 13-15 years of age students in Kuwait, as in found in GYTS 2009 in Kuwait, ,which gave the result of current cigarette smokers of (12.2%), and higher than medical student in Kuwait 2010 (5.3%). This result also is lower than prevalence of many countries

Exposures to **second hand smoke** represent a high risk factor for smoking among nursing students of Kuwait as the GHPSS in Kuwait showed that quite a large number of nursing students are a victim of second hand smoke, where, half of the students were exposed to smoke at home and 51.3% were exposed to smoke in public places (table 2). This finding consistent with Kuwait GYTs 2006. Which find that 49.8% of student's age (13-15) years of age were exposed to second hand smoke at home. This exposure directly impacts their health and can be reduced by expanding smoke free area and enforcing restrictions currently in place .professional training should include courses detailing the harmful effect of tobacco use and exposure to second hand smoke.

The results of this survey showed good attitude of the nursing students regarding to **Smoking in public places**, our finding showed that almost all students (96.7) were supportive to tobacco control efforts (table 3), they reported that smoking should be banned in all enclosed public places. This finding brought an issue that No smoking in public places should really implemented in Kuwait with strict law enforcement.

One good finding in our survey that half of nursing students want to quit smoking (**Cessation**), and nearly one third of current smoking nursing student were tried to stop smoking. Health professional should

be trained to provide effective, accurate and cessation advice to patients on all aspects of health .¹⁹

GHPSS data show that nursing students in Kuwait recognize that, they are role models in society that they should receive training on counseling and treating patient.

Our finding showed that only 48% received **formal training** in smoking cessation approach during nursing school. This percentage is higher than many countries, in Egypt 20.9%, in Lebanon 29.1%, in Saudi Arabia 6.7%, in Syria 29.3%, in India 22.3% in 2006 ^{20.} And this good finding is important because health professional should be able to provide patients with information about health consequences of smoking

A positive finding in Kuwait GHPSS (nursing students) data was the high percentage of medical students (87.5%) who think health professional should get specific **training on cessation technique**.

On the other hand, the need of smoking **cessation consultation** program /clinic is an integral part of tobacco control in Kuwait. This information brings us to conclusion that nursing faculty of Kuwait should develop a teaching module of smoking cessation consultation technique to be taught to their nursing students in the near future as a part of their normal curricula. This is in line with WHO which encouraged health professionals to help their smoking patients to quit.²¹

Conclusion

Health professional schools, should discourage tobacco use among health professional and work to design and implement program that train all health professional in effective cassation counseling techniques. And they should introduce tobacco complication and method of smoking cessation in curriculums of nursing schools.

GHPSS results in Kuwait is helpful in evaluating the behavior and attitudes regarding tobacco among health professional students, and we can used these results to identify new program efforts that are needed to lead towards a more effective comprehensive tobacco control program.

If the goal of the tobacco control preprogram is to reduce substantially the use of tobacco products; then resources should be invested in improving the quality of education of health professionals.

References

- 1- Ezzati M, Lopez AD, Rodgers A, et al, and the Comparative Risk Assessment Collaborating Group. Selected major risk factors and global and regional burden of disease. Lancet 2002;360:1347-60
- 2- Peto R, Lopez AD, Boreham J, et al. Mortality from smoking in developed countries 1950-2000: indirect estimation from National Vital Statistics. Oxford: Oxford University press, 1994.
- 3- WHO IARC. Monographs on the elevation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Vol.83: Tobacco smoke and involuntary smoking. Lyon: IARC Press, 2004.
- 4- WHO IARC. Monographs on the elevation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Vol.85: Betel-quid and areca-nut chewing and some areca-nut-derived nitrosamines, Lyon: IARC Press, 2004.
- 5- US Department of Health and Human Services. Reducing tobacco use: a report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, CDC; 2000.
- 6- Fiore MC, Bailey WC, Cohen SJ, et al. Treating tobacco use and dependence. Clinical practice guideline. Rockville, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services, 2000.
- 7- Lancaster T, Stread L, and Silagy C, et al. Effectiveness of interventions to help people stop smoking: finding from the Cochrane Library. BMJ 2000; 321:355-8.
- 8- Law M, Tang JL. An analysis of the effectiveness of interventions to help people stop smoking. Arch Intern Med 1995; 155: 1933-41.
- 9- Department of Health and Human Services. The economic implications of smoking cessation: Direct medical costs only. US Department of Health and Human Services, Agency for Health Care Policy and Research, 1196; AHCPR publication no 96-R078.
- 10-Smith DR, Leggat PA. An international review of tobacco smoking among medical students. J Postgrad Med 2007; 53:55-62.

- 11-Moody PM, Memon A, Sugathan TN, el-Gergas N, Al Bustan M. Factors associated with the initiation of smoking by Kuwaiti males J subst abuse 1998; 10: 375-84.
- 12- Memon A, Moody PM, Sugathan TN, el-Gergas N, al Bustan M, al Shatti A, al-Jazzaf H. Epidemiology of smoking among Kuwaitis adults: Prevalence, characteristics and attitude. Bull World Health Organization 2000; 78: 1306-15.
- 13- El Naser S, Fakher O. Report of the Results of the Global Youth Tobacco Survey in Kuwait (GYTS Kuwait 2009) World Health Organization (GYTS) 2009.
 - 14-Shah BV, Barnwell BG, Bieler GS. Software for the Statistical Analysis of Correlated Data (SUDAAN): user's manual. Release 7.5.1997 (software documentation). Research Triangle Park, NC: Research Triangle Institute, 1997.
 - 15- Vakeflliu Y, Argjiri D, Poposhi I, et al. Tobacco smoking habits, beliefs, and attitudes among medical students in Tirana, Albania.Prev. Med 2002; 34: 370-3
 - 16-The GTSS Collaboratine Group. Tobacco use and cessation counseling: Global Health Professionals Survey Pilot Study, 10 countries, 2005. Tob control 2006; 15(suppl. 2): ii31-34
 - 17-Jenkins K, Ahijevych K. Nursing students' beliefs about smoking, their own smoking behaviors, and use of professional tobacco treatment intervention. Appl. Nurs. Res. 2003;16;164-72.
 - 18- El Naser S, Fakher O. Report of the Results of the Global Youth Tobacco Survey in Kuwait(GYTS Kuwait 2006) World Health Organization (GYTS) 2006
 - 19-World Health Organization. WHO Framework convention on Tobacco Control Geneva: WHO,2003.
 - 20-CW Warren, NR Jones, J Chaurin. Tobacco use and cessation counseling cross country tobacco control 2008, 17:238-247
 - 21-Tobacco use and cessation counseling global health professional survey pilot study, 10 counters, 2005 MMWR May 21, vol. 54 no.20.